Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically FILED on 11/18/2019 by Emily Feng, Deputy Clerk

\$259172

S

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

JESSICA FERRA, Plaintiff and Petitioner,

v.

LOEWS HOLLYWOOD HOTEL, LLC Defendant and Respondent.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT CASE NO. B283218

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MOSS BOLLINGER LLP

Dennis F. Moss, SBN 77512 dennis@mossbollinger.com Ari E. Moss, SBN 238579 ari@mossbollinger.com 15300 Ventura Blvd., Ste 207 Sherman Oaks, CA 91403 Telephone: (310) 982-2984 Facsimile: (818) 963-5954

LAW OFFICES OF SAHAG MAJARIAN II

I.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW		
II.	INTRODUCTION		
III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE14		
	A. Facts		
	B. Procedural History		
IV.	ARGUMENT – REASONS TO GRANT REVIEW 20		
	A. REVIEW IS WARRANTED ON THE "REGULAR RATE" ISSUE BECAUSE IT HAS NOT PREVIOUSLY BEEN ADDRESSED BY THIS COURT, PROPER APPLICATION OF THE LAW HAS RAMIFICATIONS THROUGHOUT THE STATE, AND THE WELL- REASONED DISSENT EXPOSES THE SHORTCOMINGS OF THE MAJORITY OPINION		
	1. The Dissent Supports the Grant of Review. 21		
2. The Majority Opinion Leaves Thousands of Employers and Millions of Employees Without a Clear Method of Calculating Premium Pay for Meal and Rest Period Violations			
	 The IWC's "Statement of Basis" Provides Compelling Insight into the Legislature's Use Of "Regular Rate" In Labor Code § 226.7		
	5. This Court Has Used "Regular Rate Of Pay" and "Regular Rate of Compensation" Interchangeably		
	B. REVIEW ON THE ROUNDING ISSUE IS COMPELLED BY <i>TROESTER</i> , 5 Cal. 5th 829		

	1. Troester Teaches That Application Of Federal
	Law To California Wage Law Is Not Warranted If
	Such Application Results In Californians Not
	Being Paid For All Their Work
V.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

AHMC Healthcare, Inc. v. Superior Court (2018) 24 Cal.App.5th 1014
Alvarado v. Dart Container Corp. (2018) 4 Cal.5th 5427, 24, 28, 29
Anderson v. Mt. Clemens Pottery Co. (1946) 328 U.S. 680 35
Augustus v. ABM Security Servs., Inc. (2016) 2 Cal.5th 257 33, 38
Bradescu v. Hillstone Restaurant Group, Inc. (C.D.Cal., Sept. 18, 2014)
Brum v. Marketsource, Inc. (E.D. Cal., June 19, 2017) 2017 WL
2633414
California Hotel & Motel Assn. v. Industrial Welfare Com., (1979) 25
Cal.3d 200
Corbin v. Time Warner Entm't (9th Cir. 2016) 821 F.3d 106911, 34, 36
Costco Wholesale Corp. v. Superior Court (2009) 47 Cal.4th 725 30
Donohue v. AMN Servs., LLC (2018) 29 Cal.App.5th 1068 13
Estrella v. Brandt (9th Cir. 1982) 682 F2d. 814 11
Frausto v. Bank of America (N.D.Cal., Aug. 2, 2018) 2018 WL 3659251
Ibarra v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 9th Cir. No. 18-55626
Intoximeters, Inc. v. Younger (1975) 53 Cal.App.3d 262
Lampe v. Queen of the Valley (Napa County Superior Ct.) Case No. 26- 61568
Lopes v. Kohl's Dept. Stores (Alameda County Superior Ct. DATE) Case No. RG08380189
Lujan v. Southern California Gas Co. (2002) 96 Cal.App.4th 1200 30
Magadia v. Wal-Mart Associates, Inc. (N.D. Cal. 2019) 384 F. Supp. 3d 1058
Morissette v. United States, 342 U.S. 246
Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Productions, Inc. (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1094
People v. Curtis (1969) 70 Cal.2d 347
Professional Engineers in California Government v. Brown (2014) 229
Cal.App.4th 861
Professional Engineers in California Government v. Brown, 229
Cal.App.4th 861 (2014)
Ramirez v. Yosemite Water Co. (1999) 20 Cal. 4th 785

Romiaine v. Queen of the Valley Medical Center (Napa County Superior
Ct.) Case No. 18 CV001642 10
Ryan v. Dignity Health (Sacramento County Superior Ct. DATE 10
See's Candy Shops, Inc. v. Superior Court (2012) 210 Cal.App.4th 889
Silva v. See's Candy Shops, Inc. (2016) 7 Cal.App.5th 235 15
Small v. Superior Court (2007) 148 Cal.App.4th 222 25
Smith v. Wells Fargo (Los Angeles County Superior Ct.) Case No. BC
47773
Studley v. Alliance Healthcare Services, Inc. 2012 WL12286522
(C.D.Cal., July 26, 2012) 10
Tapp v. Superior Ct. (1989) 216 Cal.App.3d 1030 27
Troester v. Starbucks Corp. (2018) 5 Cal.5th 829passim
Walling v. Harnischfeger (1945) 325 U.S. 421 9, 19, 28
Walling v. Helmerich & Payne, Inc. (1944) 323 U.S. 37 9
Walling v. Youngerman-Reynolds Hardwood Co. (1945) 325 U.S. 419 9, 28
Wert v. United States Bancorp (S.D. Cal., Dec. 18, 2014) 2014 U.S.
Dist. Lexis 175735 10
Westlands Water Dist. v. Amoco Chem. Co. (9th Cir. 1991) 953 F.2d
1109
Statutos

Statutes

29 C.F.R. § 785.48(b)	
28 U.S.C. §1332	
29 U.S.C. §207(e)	
Labor Code §1177(b)	
Labor Code §226.7	
Labor Code §226.7(c)	
Labor Code §510(a)	passim
Labor Code §510	
0	

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- Did the Legislature intend the term "regular rate of compensation" in Labor Code §226.7, which requires employers to pay a wage premium if they fail to provide a legally compliant meal period or rest break, to have the same meaning and require the same calculations as the term "regular rate of pay" under Labor Code §510(a), which requires employers to pay a wage premium for each overtime hour?
- 2. In light of *Troester v. Starbucks Corp.* (2018) 5 Cal.5th 829 and the requirement that California employers must compensate their employees for all hours worked, may an employer lawfully implement a policy of "rounding" its employees' work time to the nearest quarter-hour when the inevitable result is that many employees will not be paid for all hours worked?

I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

The issues raised by this Petition are vitally important to millions of California employees and employers, affecting how wages and wage premiums must be calculated in workplaces throughout the State. The lower courts, state and federal, are hopelessly divided as to both issues, causing enormous uncertainty that can only be resolved by a definitive ruling from this Court.

Regular Rate

Almost 20 years ago, the Legislature added two wagepremium provisions to the Labor Code, in both cases tracking the

language used by the Industrial Welfare Commission ("IWC") in its most recently revised Wage Orders. In Labor Code §510(a), the Legislature required employers to pay a premium for all daily and weekly overtime worked of one-half of the employee's "regular rate of pay" for that time (totaling time-and-a-half). That was the same "regular rate" language Congress had used in the federal overtime law, the Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA"), 29 U.S.C. §207(e) (although the Legislature (and IWC) used the phrase "regular rate of pay" while Congress used the slightly different phrase "regular rate at which an employee is employed"). All parties and all courts agree that the regular rate of pay under these state and federal overtime laws must be calculated by dividing an employee's *total remuneration* (*i.e.*, not just base pay, but also any commissions, non-discretionary bonuses, piece-rate pay, and other income entitlements) by the number of hours worked or forty hours depending on the form of pay, to determine the regular pay per hour. See Alvarado v. Dart Container Corp. (2018) 4 Cal.5th 542.

Several months later, in August 2000, the Legislature enacted Labor Code §226.7, which required employers to pay a one-hour wage premium for each day the employer failed to provide an employee with one or more legally compliant meal periods or rest breaks (i.e. a timely 30-minute unpaid meal period or 10-minute paid rest break, free from employer control). Tracking the language of another newly adopted IWC Wage Order provision imposing the same requirement, the Legislature

in Section 226.7 required employers to calculate that wage premium based on the employee's "regular rate of compensation."

In Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Productions, Inc. (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1094, fn.6, the case in which this Court held that the one-hour wage premium in Labor Code §226.7 was a "wage" rather than a "penalty" for statute of limitations purposes, this Court noted that the Legislature used the terms "pay" and "compensation" interchangeably throughout the Labor Code as synonyms for "wages" - not surprisingly, because they are synonyms with each other.¹ The threshold question on this issue over which the majority (Egerton, J., with Lavin, J) and dissent (Edmon, J.) strongly disagreed, is whether the Legislature intended any material difference between the meaning of "regular rate" in the context of an employee's regular rate of pay under Labor Code §510(a) and an employee's regular rate of compensation under Labor Code §226.7 – a potentially huge difference in payment and incentives/disincentives in workplaces where the employees are paid a very low base hourly rate (or none at all, other than the minimum wage) and earn a sizeable portion of their income in commissions, non-discretionary bonuses, or other promised amounts.

In this case, Justice Edmon's carefully crafted dissent should have carried the day. That dissent demonstrated that

¹ The Edmonds dissent goes one step further, demonstrating how the Legislature has used "regular rate of pay" and "regular rate of compensation" in overtime contexts, and recently used "regular rate of pay in a break violation premium context in the petroleum industry notwithstanding "of compensation" in 226.7.

under state and federal employment law, "regular rate" has historically been used as a term of art to require consideration of an employee's total remuneration, not just a base hourly wage; that "pay" and "compensation" are synonyms under the most common dictionary definitions and have been used interchangeably in California, not only by the Legislature (as this Court pointed out in *Murphy*) but also by the IWC and Department of Industrial Relations; that the Legislature's policy objective of encouraging workers to take meal periods and rest breaks and discouraging employers from failing to provide such breaks is best furthered by calculating wage premiums under Section 226.7 the same way overtime premiums are calculated under Section 510(a); and that if the Legislature intended some unstated difference between regular rate of compensation and regular rate of pay, it certainly gave no indication of what that difference might be.

The majority had no answer to any of those points, resting its analysis almost entirely on the canon of statutory construction that different words are presumed to have different meanings, a canon that provides no interpretive guidance in this case. Consequently, the lower courts (including other Courts of Appeal, trial courts throughout the state and federal system, and most recently the Ninth Circuit, which earlier this month withdrew the post-argument submission of an appeal raising this identical issue pending this Court's ruling on the current Petition, *Ibarra v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, 9th Cir. No. 18-55626) cannot rely on

the majority decision as an accurate statement of the law and are in desperate need of a definitive ruling from this Court.

Absent a grant of review and reversal of the majority's ruling, workers throughout California will face the same types of employer mischief that the U.S. Supreme Court put to rest more than a half-century ago under the FLSA, when it defined "regular rate" to encompass all non-discretionary compensation in cases such as *Walling v. Helmerich & Payne, Inc.* (1944) 323 U.S. 37, *Walling v. Youngerman-Reynolds Hardwood Co.* (1945) 325 U.S. 419, and *Walling v. Harnischfeger* (1945) 325 U.S. 421. *See also* 29 U.S.C. § 207(e). Absent a grant of review and reversal, workers and employers will also face untenable ongoing confusion and uncertainty, particularly in workplaces (common in many industries, including sales) where the employees have no "base hourly rate," but are paid exclusively on an incentive-pay system, with the only floor being the legally guaranteed minimum wage.

The irreconcilable conflict between the majority and dissenting opinion in this case is mirrored by the many trial court decisions cited in the briefs and opinions below (and in the recent Ninth Circuit *Ibarra* appeal) that are split on the same issue of statutory construction: whether the Legislature intended "regular rate of compensation" under Section 226.7 to mean the same thing as "regular rate of pay" under Section 510(a). Compare the following cases which align with the dissent in *Ferra*:

Magadia v. Wal-Mart Associates, Inc. (N.D. Cal. 2019) 384 F. Supp. 3d 1058, 1077-78, appeal pndg. Ibarra v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. 2018 WL 2146380, (C.D. Cal., May 8, 2018) appeal

pndg. No. 18-55626 (argued Nov. 7, 2019, submission withdrawn Nov. 12, 2019), Studley v. Alliance Healthcare Services, Inc. 2012
WL12286522 (C.D.Cal., July 26, 2012), Lopes v. Kohl's Dept.
Stores (Alameda County Superior Ct.) Case No. RG08380189,
Ryan v. Dignity Health (Sacramento County Superior Ct.) Case
No. 34-2013-00147371-CU-OE-GDS; ; Romiaine v. Queen of the
Valley Medical Center (Napa County Superior Ct.) Case No. 18
CV001642 to the following cases which align with the majority:

Brum v. Marketsource, Inc. (E.D. Cal., June 19, 2017) 2017 WL 2633414, Wert v. United States Bancorp (S.D. Cal., Dec. 18, 2014) 2014 U.S. Dist. Lexis 175735; Smith v. Wells Fargo (Los Angeles County Superior Ct.) Case No. BC 47773; Lampe v. Queen of the Valley (Napa County Superior Ct.) Case No. 26-61568, Bradescu v. Hillstone Restaurant Group, Inc. (C.D.Cal., Sept. 18, 2014), 2014WL5312546, and Frausto v. Bank of America (N.D.Cal., Aug. 2, 2018) 2018 WL 3659251.

The confusion among the federal courts is particularly problematic because so many California wage-and-hour class actions are now being removed to federal court under the Class Action Fairness Act ("CAFA"), 28 U.S.C. §1332, requiring federal judges at the trial and appellate level to "predict" how this Court would resolve critical underlying issues of California law where the only extant state appellate ruling is from a sharply divided panel where the dissenting opinion is far more comprehensive, thoughtful, and analytical than the majority opinion. *See Westlands Water Dist. v. Amoco Chem. Co.* (9th Cir. 1991) 953 F.2d 1109; 1111; *Estrella v. Brandt* (9th Cir. 1982) 682 F2d. 814,

817. The majority's decision in *Ferra* may provide a data point for federal courts struggling to determine what California law requires, but it is not a particularly reliable or reassuring data point. Only this Court can provide that, and it can do so only by granting review in this case.

Rounding

The Court of Appeal opinion went off the rails in a second respect, too, because it failed to recognize the controlling impact of *Troester*, 5 Cal. 5th at 847, on the permissibility of an employer's policy of "rounding" its workers time instead of paying them for all time worked and only that time. Although rounding has long been permitted under federal law, as the panel's reliance on *Corbin v. Time Warner Entm't* (9th Cir. 2016) 821 F.3d 1069 demonstrates, the conceptual underpinnings of the federal rounding doctrine –based on the technology of a previous era in which employee work time could not be tracked with precision as it can now – no longer apply in California, as this Court's decision in *Troester* confirms.

The Court of Appeal held that Loews' rounding system was lawful, even though the record showed that plaintiff Ferra and many of her co-workers lost time due to Loews' rounding protocol more than twice as often as they gained time due to that protocol, and even though the sample time records produced by Loews failed to establish on an employee-by-employee basis how much time was actually gained and lost (although that information was readily available to it). *See* Slip Op. at 19-21. The panel cited *Corbin*, which allowed rounding under the FLSA as long as the rounding protocol did not result in any particular group of employees as a whole being underpaid over a period of time. 821 F.3d at 1078-79. But *every* employee in California has the right to be paid for his or her working time, and an employer that knowingly fails to pay some employees for all of their time should not be permitted to justify that underpayment by asserting that it overpaid other employees. Review of this rounding issue is therefore necessary to clarify that under *Troester* (which was not decided until *after* plaintiff Ferra filed her opening brief in the Court of Appeal), if an employer's payroll and timekeeping system allows it to determine that a particular employee worked a particular amount of time, it must pay the employee for all that time, and may not excuse its non-payment on the ground that it came close enough, and that its system resulted in other employees being paid for more time than they actually worked. ²

The "as a group" focus of *Corbin*'s and the underlying federal regulation, 29 C.F.R. § 785.48(b), should have no application to California, where as *Troester* demonstrates, the proper inquiry is whether each particular employee has been paid for all time that employee worked.

Even without considering the impact of *Troester*, review of the rounding issue is warranted. The panel's analysis of the rounding issue is inconsistent with the analysis adopted in the pre-*Troester* cases cited by the panel, such as *Donohue v. AMN Servs., LLC* (2018) 29 Cal.App.5th 1068, *See's Candy Shops, Inc.*

² Respondent referenced Troester in its Opposition Brief in the Court of Appeal, and Petitioner, in her reply, relying on Troester made the argument contained herein.

v. Superior Court (2012) 210 Cal.App.4th 889, and AHMC Healthcare, Inc. v. Superior Court (2018) 24 Cal.App.5th 1014 (AHMC). Those cases held that rounding systems were permissibly neutral in application when the evidence established that the number of people who benefited from rounding was roughly equal to the number of people harmed by rounding and/or that the employer did not benefit economically from its rounding system. Here, though, the Court of Appeal granted summary judgment for the employer even though the record did not include data that established that Loews' rounding system was neutral in application.

Review of both issues raised by this Petition is therefore essential to bring uniformity and fairness back into California employment law. Neither issue has been previously addressed by this Court, and both issues affect an enormous number of workplaces throughout California. Lower courts are in complete disarray concerning what the Legislature actually intended in both instances, and the only way to resolve the resulting crippling uncertainty is through a grant of review and a comprehensive analysis of the two unsettled issues of statutory construction presented.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Facts

Jessica Ferra worked as a bartender for Loews Hollywood Hotel, Inc. ("Loews") from June 16, 2012, to May 12, 2014. Slip Op. pg. 2. When hired, she earned \$15.49 per hour plus periodic

non-discretionary bonuses. CT 1031, CT 6-8. ³ Her work time was rounded to the nearest quarter-hour. When she experienced meal and rest break violations, she was paid premiums at her base hourly rate, a rate that did not include the non-discretionary periodic bonuses she and her co-workers routinely received.

<u>Regular Rate Issue</u>: When Loews employees experience a violation of their meal period or rest break rights, they are paid one hour of premium wages at their base hourly rate. The other compensation they receive (i.e., bonus amounts earned that are attributable to that time) are not factored into the hour of premium pay. Slip Op. pg.2-3

<u>Rounding Issue:</u> Loews employees clock in and out to record their hours of work. Loews rounds recorded work time to the nearest quarter hour. No time entries were rounded by more than seven minutes. Slip Op. pg. 17. There is no record evidence establishing that employees who clocked in before their shift began or clocked out after their shifts ended *were not working during these pre- and post-shift periods*. Nor is there evidence that they were *prohibited* from working during these periods. *Cf. Silva v. See's Candy Shops, Inc.* (2016) 7 Cal.App.5th 235, 253.

Loews retained an expert, Deborah Foster, who analyzed 452 of Plaintiff's shifts and concluded that Ms. Ferra lost time due to rounding on 249 shifts and gained time on 103, less than half as many shifts. CT 968, and Table 1 CT 970. The panel acknowledged this disparity, noting that Ms. Ferra lost time (i.e.,

³ Eventually her hourly pay exceeded \$16.00 per hour. See CT1259-1282.

performed work for which she was not paid) on 55.1% of her shifts, and gained time (i.e., was paid for work not performed) on 22.8% of her shifts. Slip Op. at 19. Those were the only shifts on which Ms. Ferra's time was above or below the quarter-hour mark and thus subject to rounding. During 48% of the shifts where Ms. Ferra lost time on account of rounding, the average amount of time she worked without compensation was 5.86 minutes. Foster Decl. CT 000965-976, at Par. 14 and Table 1 at 000970. Overall, counting rounded shifts only, she lost an average of three minutes per rounded shift.

During the class period, Ms. Ferra lost a total of 24.33 hours on shifts where she lost time due to "rounding." Factoring in the 6.44 hours she gained overall on other shifts., Foster Decl., Table 1 CT 970, her net loss was 17.87 hours, the equivalent of two free days of work she gave to Lowe's in just under two years. Slip Opinion pg. 2

At her starting rate of \$ 15.49 per hour, Loews' rounding system deprived Ferra of \$276.80 in pay at straight time rates.

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