### S259172

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

JESSICA FERRA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

LOEWS HOLLYWOOD HOTEL, LLC,

Defendant and Respondent.

SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION THREE, NO. B283218 LOS ANGELES COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT NO. BC586176

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

BALLARD ROSENBERG GOLPER & SAVITT, LLP RICHARD S. ROSENBERG, State Bar No. 77948

JOHN J. MANIER, State Bar No. 145701

DAVID FISHMAN, State Bar No. 217608

15760 VENTURA BOULEVARD, EIGHTEENTH FLOOR

ENCINO, CALIFORNIA 91436

TELEPHONE: 818-508-3700 | FACSIMILE: 818-506-4827

Attorneys for Defendant and Respondent LOEWS HOLLYWOOD HOTEL, LLC

#

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

Significantly, Justice Edmon disregarded this principle, and instead suggested that the use of different terms were "mouseholes" in which the Legislature tends not to hide "elephants." (Conc. & dis. opn., p. 17.) But Justice Edmon ignored the proverbial elephant in the room—employers have justifiably ascribed significance to the difference in language between sections 226.7 and 510, without any contrary legislative, administrative, or appellate guidance for the past two decades.

Justice Edmon herself emphasized "mouseholes" that were not even discussed in Ferra's appellate briefs—a single isolated reference to "regular rate of pay" in the Industrial Welfare Commission's ("IWC's") Statement as to the Basis (conc. & dis. opn., p. 12, italics in original) and legislative committee report descriptions of meal and rest break premiums "in terms of rates of pay or wages" (id., pp. 13-14, italics in original). But as the majority discussed, the final bill that added section 226.7 never used the phrase "regular rate of pay," while the final bill that added section 510 used that phrase at least eight times and never mentioned "regular rate of compensation." (Opn., p. 12, fn. 6.) While Justice Edmon found nothing in legislative history to suggest the phrases "regular rate of pay" and "regular rate of compensation" have different meanings (conc. & dis. opn., p. 13), like the majority, she also identified nothing in that history to compel the conclusion that the phrases have the same legal meaning (*ibid*.; see opn., p. 10).

Justice Edmon opined that the majority's analysis "might suggest that 'regular rate of compensation' does not mean the same thing as 'regular rate of pay'—but it does not lead logically to the conclusion that 'regular rate of compensation' means straight hourly rate." (Conc. & dis. opn., pp. 22-23.) But Justice Edmon's opinion itself acknowledged only two alternative definitions of "regular rate of compensation"—it "could mean either an hourly rate plus incentive/bonus pay or an hourly rate alone." (Id. at p. 2, italics in original.) Based on Justice Edmon's own reasoning, if "regular rate of compensation" is not merely

synonymous with "regular rate of pay," *it can only mean* "an hourly rate alone" (*ibid.*), as the majority correctly held.

Justice Edmon relies on the maxim that labor statutes are to be liberally construed. (Conc. & dis. opn., pp. 3-4.) However, this principle does not authorize courts "to rewrite applicable legislation to "conform to [an] appellant's view of what [the law] should be." [Citations.]" (Soto v. Motel 6 Operating, L.P. (2016) 4 Cal.App.5th 385, 393.) In particular, courts should not add to a law what has been omitted or omit what has been added, or give a statute an effect that goes beyond its plain language. (Ibid.) Justice Edmon's interpretation of section 226.7, like Ferra's, essentially omits the term "of compensation" in order to conform to federal and state laws on a different subject—overtime pay. The majority correctly rejected that analysis, and there is no necessity for this Court to grant review.

C. The Majority Opinion is Consistent with Precedents of this Court and the Courts of Appeal, and Reflects the Distinct Policy Objectives of the Meal and Rest Break Requirements.

This Court and the Court of Appeal have consistently described meal and rest period premiums as one "additional hour of pay," without indicating that payment at any increased rate beyond the base hourly rate is required. (*Kirby v. Immoos Fire Protection, Inc.* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 1244, 1256-1257, 1259 (*Kirby*); *Murphy, supra*, 40 Cal.4th at pp. 1099, 1102, 1104, 1107-1108, 1111-1114; *Thurman v. Bayshore Transit Management, Inc.* (2012) 203 Cal.App.4th 1112, 1134 [referring to "additional hour

of pay for missed meal and rest periods provided by section 226.7"]; *United Parcel Services v. Superior Court* (2011) 196 Cal.App.4th 57, 66 [employees "may recover up to two additional hours of pay on a single work day for meal period and rest period violations"].)

This is consistent with the different purposes behind sections 226.7 and 510. The concept of "regular rate of pay" is calculated to serve the overtime pay law's "central purpose," which "is to compensate employees for their time" (*Murphy*, at p. 1109) and ensure they are neither overworked nor underpaid (*Parth v. Pomona Valley Hospital Medical Center* (9th Cir. 2010) 630 F.3d 794, 801). Section 510 disincentivizes employers from circumventing overtime laws by means such as paying large nondiscretionary bonuses but low hourly rates.

By comparison, as the majority opinion notes, an employee forced to forgo a required meal period "loses a benefit to which the law entitles him or her. While the employee is paid for the 30 minutes of work, the employee has been deprived of the right to be free of the employer's control during the meal period.

[Citation.]" (*Murphy*, at p. 1104, quoted in opn., p. 9, fn. 4.)

Section 226.7 "provides the only compensation for these injuries," but that compensation is not "in exchange for work done" (*ibid.*), nor is it "aimed at protecting or providing employees' wages.

Instead, the statute is primarily concerned with ensuring the health and welfare of employees by requiring that employers provide meal and rest periods as mandated by the IWC." (*Kirby*, at p. 1255.)

In addition, overtime premiums must be paid in direct proportion to the amount of overtime work performed. But meal and rest period premiums do not vary according to the specific nature of the violation, nor are they connected to time worked (beyond the minimum thresholds for entitlement to meal and rest periods). For example, an employee who is provided no meal period at all is entitled to the same premium as an employee who is provided a 24-minute meal period but not the required 30 minutes, or an employee whose full 30-minute meal period is provided later than required. (See Brinker Restaurant Corp. v. Superior Court (2012) 53 Cal.4th 1004, 1041.) Meanwhile, the employer still must separately compensate the employee for any time worked in lieu of all or part of the meal period, including any overtime premiums that might apply. (See Murphy, at p. 1104.) Accordingly, the policy rationale for defining "regular rate of pay" for overtime premiums to include more than the base rate of pay is inapplicable to meal and rest period premiums.

The policy behind section 226.7 was recently explored in *Naranjo*, *supra*, 40 Cal.App.5th 444, a case published shortly before the instant Court of Appeal opinion. The court in *Naranjo* held that entitlement to premium wages under section 226.7 *does not*, in and of itself, give rise to derivative wage-related remedies pursuant to sections 203 ("waiting time" penalties) or 226 (itemized wage statement penalties). (*Naranjo*, at p. 463.) The court explained that while the section 226.7 premium constitutes a "wage" rather than a "penalty" for statute of limitations purposes (*Naranjo*, at p. 465, citing *Murphy*, at pp. 1102-1103), a

section 226.7 action is not an "action brought for the nonpayment of wages" within the meaning of section 218.5's attorney fee provision, or for which fees are available under section 1194 (*Naranjo*, at pp. 466, quoting *Kirby*, *supra*, 53 Cal.4th at pp. 1256-1257).

Causes of action under sections 203 and 226 "generally are referred to as derivative of an employee's right to the wages themselves: An employee's right to wages accrues at the time work is performed, but '[t]he right to a penalty ... does not vest until someone has taken action to enforce it.' (*Murphy*, ... at p. 1108.)" (*Naranjo*, at p. 468.) By comparison, causes of action under section 226.7 do not seek collection of unpaid wages due. (*Ibid.*, citing *Lane v. Francis Capital Management LLC* (2014) 224 Cal.App.4th 676, 684.) Most courts thus have held that section 203 and 226 penalties are not derivative of a section 226.7 claim. (*Id.* at pp. 469-470, citing, inter alia, *Ling v. P.F. Chang's China Bistro*, *Inc.* (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 1242, 1261.)

The Naranjo court further explained that since 1937, the Labor Code has defined "wages" exclusively "in terms of 'labor performed by employees[]" and "labor" as " 'labor, work, or service ... performed ...." (Naranjo, at p. 473, quoting Lab. Code, § 200, subds. (a), (b).) The Legislature did not expand the definition of "wages" after Murphy "to include the payment of a remedy rather than simply the payment for labor." (Ibid.) Nor did the Legislature amend section 218.5 after Kirby to allow the prevailing party in a section 226.7 action to recover attorney fees—even though it did amend section 218.5 to make it more

difficult for a prevailing employer to recover fees. (*Ibid.*) Courts deem the Legislature to be aware of judicial decisions, and assume its decision not to amend a statute in response to a judicial decision to be "a considered one. [Citation.]" (*Ibid.*)

Section 203 penalizes an employer for its willful recalcitrance in paying "wages" earned by a separated employee, and section 226 allows recovery of "minimum fixed penalties or 'actual damages' 'not to exceed ... \$4,000,' plus attorney fees, if [an] itemized statement omits gross and net 'wages earned." (Naranjo, at pp. 473-474.) But section 226.7's premium wage is a remedy for failure to provide a meal or rest period, "not an amount 'earned' for 'labor, work, or service ... performed personally by the employee.' (§ 200, subd. (b).)" (Naranjo, at p. 474.) Based on the clear statutory language, the court held that an employee in a section 226.7 action is not entitled to recover derivative penalties under sections 203 or 226. (Ibid.)

Naranjo's discussion of the purpose and policy behind section 226.7 further supports the majority's conclusion in the instant case that section 226.7's phrase "regular rate of compensation" for calculating meal and rest period premiums means an employee's base hourly rate, rather than the "regular rate of pay" used for calculating overtime wages under section 510. Review is not necessary to secure uniformity of decision or settle the law, or for any other reason.

# II. THERE IS NO NECESSITY FOR REVIEW OF THE UNANIMOUS DECISION AS TO ROUNDING.

# A. There Is No Split of Appellate Authority on This Issue.

The Court of Appeal unanimously held that the Hotel's "facially neutral rounding policy does not systematically undercompensate Loews employees," and therefore complies with California law. (Opn., p. 2; conc. & dis. opn., p. 1.) This holding is consistent with every published appellate decision to address rounding. (See AHMC Healthcare, Inc. v. Superior Court (2018) 24 Cal.App.5th 1014, 1027 (AHMC) [payroll system which rounded all employee time to the nearest quarter-hour, and was both "neutral on its face" and "neutral in practice," complied with California law]; Silva v. See's Candy Shops, Inc. (2016) 7 Cal.App.5th 235, 252 (See's II) [affirming summary adjudication for employer on rounding and grace-period claims]; See's Candy Shops, Inc. v. Superior Court (2012) 210 Cal. App. 4th 889, 903 (See's I) [rounding is lawful if it favors neither overpayment nor underpayment on average, and does not systematically undercompensate employees]; accord, Corbin v. Time Warner Entertainment-Advance/Newhouse Partnership (9th Cir. 2016) 821 F.3d 1069, 1077 (Corbin) [neutral rounding policy is lawful if it "is meant to average out in the long-term" to fully compensate employees for all hours worked [italics in original].)

Ferra's depiction of "hopelessly divided" courts (petn., p. 6) makes even less sense on rounding than in connection with the "regular rate of compensation" issue. The appellate decisions on rounding are uniform and settled. There is no need for review.

## B. Troester Does Not Support Ferra's Sweeping Condemnation of Rounding, Which She Failed to Raise Below.

Although Ferra appealed the trial court's grant of summary judgment on the rounding issue, she did not dispute that California law permits a fair and neutral rounding policy that does not systematically undercompensate employees. Ferra's briefs variously cited to *See's I* and *II*, *Corbin*, and *AHMC*, without suggesting any of them were wrongly decided; instead, she sought to factually distinguish those cases. (See AOB 44-50; ARB 31-36.)

Ferra's reply brief cited to *Troester*, *supra*, 5 Cal.5th 829 (decided after her opening brief was filed), but stated only that *Troester* "made a number of especially salient points which call into question the applicability of Federal rounding doctrine under California law *as to employees who habitually lose money on account of rounding.*" (ARB 36, italics added.) This description sounds similar to the systematic undercompensation that would render rounding unlawful under existing precedent, and which the Court of Appeal unanimously found not to exist here. (See opn., pp. 17-21.)

In her petition, however, Ferra quotes this Court's holding that "California's wage and hour statutes [and] regulations" have not "adopted the de minimis doctrine found in the [FLSA]" (*Troester*, at p. 835), and urges this Court to decide whether California's statutes and regulations have adopted the FLSA's rounding doctrine. (Petn., pp. 32-33.) According to Ferra, "[t]here is no indication in the 'text or history' of the relevant statutes and

IWC wage orders of adoption of the federal rounding regulation." (Petn., p. 33.)

This Court should decline Ferra's invitation to review the rounding issue. She offers no reason for not challenging the legality of a fair and neutral rounding policy in the Court of Appeal. To the contrary, she refrained from such an attack in her reply brief, even after this Court decided *Troester*—the case on which she so heavily relies in her petition. This Court should follow its policy of "normally ... not consider[ing] an issue that the petitioner failed to timely raise in the Court of Appeal." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(1).)

At any rate, contrary to Ferra's contention, the discussion of rounding in *Troester* does not support her petition, and instead explicitly assumes the legality of "a fair rounding policy" like the one upheld in See's I. (Troester, at p. 848.) This Court quoted See's I's holding that a rounding policy is valid if it "is fair and neutral" on its face and 'it is used in such a manner that it will not result, over a period of time, in failure to compensate the employees properly for all the time they have actually worked." (See's I, supra, 210 Cal.App.4th at p. 907, italics added.) This Court recognized that See's I upheld rounding because it "was consistent with the core statutory and regulatory purpose that employees be paid for all time worked." (Troester, at p. 847.) The Court further noted that See's I was consistent with both federal law and the directive of the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement, under which rounding is valid only if it is facially neutral and does not, over time, fail to compensate employees

properly for all time worked. (*Ibid.*) The Court concluded that because "it may be possible to reasonably estimate worktime," including through "a fair rounding policy" as *See's I* suggested, it would not adopt the federal de minimis rule "that would require the employee to bear the entire burden of any difficulty in recording regularly occurring worktime." (*Troester*, at p. 848.)

The conditions under which this Court in *Troester* assumed rounding to be legal are precisely the same as those that were presented by the undisputed facts in this case, as well as by the records in *AHMC*, *See's I* and *II*, and *Corbin*. Ferra fails to identify any aspect of the Court of Appeal's opinion that is inconsistent with *Troester* or other applicable precedent. Instead, the opinion confirms uniformity of settled law on rounding, and should not be reviewed.

### **CONCLUSION**

The petition for review should be denied.